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QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART & SULLIVAN LLP

Michael T, Zeller (Bar No. 196417)
m1chaelzeller@qumnemanuel .com:
Adam B. Wolfson (Bar No. 262125)
adamwolfson@ qumnemanu%I com
865 South Figueroa Street, 10" Floor
Los Angeles, California 90017-2543
Telephone: (213) 443-3000
Facsimile: (213)443-3100

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

ALKI DAVID, DETRON BENDROSS,
JEROME WOODS éP/K/A ROME),
TRISCO SMITH-PEARSON
JEFFREY THOMPKINS (P/K/A JT
MONEY), JONATHAN
SHINHoéTER P/K/A J-SHIN),
SPECTACULAR SMITH, DIAMOND
SMITH (P/K/A BABY BLUE .
COREY MATHIS (P/K/A SLICK
‘EM), EMMANUEL RAMONE
DeANDA, ERIC JACKSON (P/K/A
KAINE), DE’ANGELO HOLMES
P/K/A D-ROC), ANTHONY ROUND
P/K/A N.A.R.D.), DENNIS ROUND,
and COREY JOHNSON (P/K/A
COLDHARD),

- Plaintiffs,
VS.

CBS INTERACTIVE INC., CNET
NETWORKS, INC., LIME WIRE LLC,
and LIME GROUP LLC,

Defendants.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA
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COMPLAINT FOR:

g_NzFINDUCEMENT OF COPYRIGHT
RINGEMENT

{N)FCONTRIBUTORY COPYRIGHT
RINGEMENT; and

(3) VICARIOUS COPYRIGHT
RINGEMENT

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
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~ Plaintiffs, for their Complaint against Defendants CBS Interactwe Inc. (“CBS
Interactlve”) and CNET ‘Networks, Inc. (“CNET,” collectively with CBS
Interactive, the “CBS Defendants”), Lime Wire LLC'(“LW’lj, and Lime Group' LLC
(“Lime Group,” collectively with LW, the “LimeWire Defendants”), allege as
follows:

. - SUMMARY OF THE AQTION'. L

I. This action arises from Defendants’ | direct contribution to and
participation in massiye.copyflght infringement of Plaintiffs’ works on .p'eer'-to—.peer_
(“P2P7)-systems. LimeWire is-the most notorious of these systems in recent years.
LimeWire and its principals were found' liable for copyright infringement on a
virtually unprecedented scale in 2010 and enjoined from further infringing activities
by a federal Court.

2. The CBS Defendants have been the main distributor of LimeWire
software and have promoted this and other P2P systems in order to du'ectly proﬁt
from wide-scale copyright mfrmgement Internet users have downloaded more then
220 million copies of LimeWire software from the CBS Defendants’ website, found
at Download.com, since 2008. This consisted 95 percent or more of all copies of
LimeWire that were downloaded until leeWIre was shut down by Court Order, |-
Download com also was a major source for other P2P software appl1cat10ns |
1nclud1ng Morpheus (174 million downloads) iMesh (115 million downloads), and
FrostWire (32 million downloads) The CBS Defendants recelved massive amounts
of revenue from P2P providers on a “pay .per download” basis and also from
advertising revenues generated by adv_er_tisements placed on the download screen for
PQP software. The CBS Defendants’ business model has been so dependent‘npon
P2P and file sharing applications that entire pages of Download.com are designed’
specifically to list and categorize these software offerings. In fact, the CBS

Defendants were well aware that these software applications were used
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overwhelming to infringe when they first partnered w1th L1meW1re and other P2P
providers, but ignored it in exchange for a steady stream of income, :

3. The CBS Defendants have not just distributed and profited from |
software applications used to infringe copyrights on a massive scale. They also
furnished articles and other content that explained how users could use P2P software
to infringe. On cnet.com, Download com, and other websites, the CBS Defendants
offered v1deos, articles and other media that instructed how to use P2P software to
locate p1rat'ed cOplesof copyrighted works and remove electronic pr_otection_s place'd
on digital music files in order to prevent infringement. _

4. Plaintiffs are artists who work in the fields of music and film. "They
wrote, produced, distributed, sold and/or licensed songs, movies and other
copyrighted works that have been infringed by Defendants, including without
limitation through Defendants’ distribution and promotion of P2P software that has
been used to copy and distribute Plalntlffs works. Defendants must compensate
Plamtlffs for the damages they’ caused and be ordered to cease future 1nfrmgement

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

5. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims asserted

hereln pursuant to 28 U S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a)

6. The Court has personal jl.lI'lSdlCthIl over Defendants because each'
resides and/or may be found in California, does systemat1c and contlnuous business
in California, and has performed acts directed at and causing harm in California

which give rise to this Complaint..

7. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b), (©) and

28US.C.§ 1400(a)
PARTIES

8.  Plaintiffs are the legal and beneficial owners, of copyrighted works that

have been infringed by Defendants

COMPLAINT
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9. Plaintiff Alki David is a citizén of the United Kingdom and resident of

the State of California: : . L |
" 10.  Plaintiff Detron Bendross is a member of the rap group 2 Live Crew |

and a citizen and resident of the State of Florida.

11, Plaintiff Jerome Woods, professionally known as “ROME,” is a citizen
and resident of the State of California. - o

12, = Plaintiff TI'ISCO Smith-Pearson is a member of the R&B group The
Force MDs and a citizen and resident of the State of New York.

- Plaintiff Jeffrey Thompkins; professionally known as “JT Money,” i

citizen and resident of the State of Florida. ' '

14.  Plaintiff Jonathan Shinhoster, professionally known as “J-Shin,” is a
citizen and resident of the State of Florida.

15.  Plaintiff Spectacular Smith is a member of the R&B group Pretty Ricky

_and a citizen and resident of the State of F londa

16.  Plaintiff Diamond Sm1th professmnally known as “Baby BEue 1s.'a'
member of the R&B group Pretty Ricky and a citizen and resident of the State of

Florida.

17. Plalntlff Corey Mathis, professmnally known as “Slick ‘Em,” is a

rnember of the R&B group Pretty R1cky and a citizen and reSIdent of the State of

Florida. |
" 18.- Plaintiff Emmanuel Ramone DeAnda is a membef of the R&B. .g_roup
Pretty. Ricky and a citizen and resident of the State of Florida.

19.  Plaintiff Eric Jackson, professionally known as “Kaine,” is a member
of the hip hop group Ylng Yang Twins and a citizen and remdent of the State of
Georgia., - o Co
20.  Plaintiff De’Angelo Holmes, professionally known as “D-Roc,” is s a
member of the hip hop group Ying Yang Twins and a citizen and resident of the

State of Georgia.
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2]1.  Plaintiff Anthony Round, professionally known as “N.A.R.D.,” .is a
member of the hlp hop group Do Or Die and a citizen and re51dent of the State of
Iiinois.

22.  Plaintiff Dennis Round is a member of the hip hop group Do Or Die
and a citizen and resident of the State of Illinois.

23.  Plaintiff Corey Johnson, professionally known as “Coldhard,” is a |
member of the hip hop group Crucial COHﬂICt and a 01tlzen and resident of the State
of Illinois. ' ' | '

24. .- Defendant CBS Interactive, -Ine. is a Delaware- corporation with ‘its
principal place of business at 235 Second Street, San Francisco, California 941035.

25.  Defendant CNET Networks, Inc. is a Delaware corporation and a fully-
owned ‘subsidiary of CBS Interactive. CNET’s principal place of business is 235
Second Street, San Francisco, California 94105.

- 26.?_' Defendant Lime Group LLC is a Delaware hmlted llablhty company
with its principal place of business at 377 Broadway, llth Floor, New York, New
York 10013,

27. Defendant Lirne Wire LLC is a Delaware limited liability company
with its prmmpal place of busmess at 377 Broadway, 11th Floor, New York, New
York 10013 and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Defendant lee Group LLC .

with which it shares offices and officers/employees. Lime Wire LLC and Lime

|| Group LLC directly and -indirectly designed LimeWire -and updated, improved,

promoted, distributed and marketed LimeWire,
28.  Each Defendant acted in concert with each other and as the principal,

agent, or joint venture of, or for, other Defendants with respect to the acts,

|| vidlations, and common course of copyright infringement alleged by Plaintiffs.
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. FACTS
P2P File Sharing Svstems, Including leeWIre

29. P2P file sharing networks are systems which allow users to connect to
one another and transfer files located on each other’s hard drives. In order to
participate in these networks, each user must download and install on the user’s
computer a software progfam—commonly known as a “client’—that facilitates the
file transfers. Examples of P2P clients include Napster Almster, KaZaA Grokster
and.LimeWire, _

“30. . P2P-clients provide an interface for users to search and obtain copies of
files located on their respective file shating networks. Depending on which P2P
client is employed, users can filter results by type of file (e.g., audio or video), file
name, artist and other identifying information. Many P2P clients, including those

found liable in some of the most infamous copyright infringement cases of the past

7decade are (or were) specifically demgned to. locate music files.by name. of the song. |

or artist and are (or were) targeted at audlences well-known for their desire to
infringe copyrights.

31.  File sharing networks depend on users to actually “share” their files.
P2P clients are spe01ﬁcally de51gned to facilitate this process. - In most cases, the
client automatlcally searches a user’s computer for “shareable” files, typlcally audio |
and video files. Clients also often penalize users w1th s]owe1 download speeds or
other decreased functlonahty if they do not share ¢ enough” files with other users on
the network. The purpose of this functionality is clear: users must share files if they |.
wish to enjoy the full benefits of the P2P network, and the client will make all files
available for sharing unless the user specifically opts out of this option.

32.  As Napster’s one-time success pfoxlf'ed.,'there is a large demographic of
internet users who seek to obtain free copies. of their favorite music. regardless of
copyrights. The sheer size of this group demonstrated that P2P clients could

generate massive revenues if they designed a user experience that expressly catered

: N
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to copyright infringement, thereby drawing. users to their advertisements and pay

services. When Napster was shut down due to court-ordered injunction, numerous

Pop cliients-s'tepped in to fill the void. These P2Ph'clien‘ts, inoludihg but not limited

to Aimster, Grokster, KaZaA, Morpheus and LimeWire, actively marketed |
themselves to Napster’s former customers.

33.... To use just the most recent P2P. client -found liable for» copyright |-
infringement, the LimeWire Defendants began providing their PZP network in or

around August 2000.. In order to attract users to their ‘service, the LimeWire |.

Defendants advertised on other P2P mnetworks and made statements comparing |

LimeWire’s user experiénce to other file sharing clients. Above and beyond mere
advertisements, the LimeWire Defendants specifically designed their client to be
highly efficient at finding and downloading copies of copyrighted sound recordings.
34,  There were two forms of the LimeWire software (updated in several
verszons over the years) The first was ‘LimeWire Basic,” a free version of- the PZP .
client. The second was “LimeWire PRO ” which sold for approximately $19 and
ostensibly offered purchasers faster downloads. Both forms of LimeWire were

compatible with each other, and users could share files with each other no matter

W1th form of LimeW1re they possessed

35. When a user first 1nstalled L1meW1re the program automatlcally
searched their hard drwe for media files and made them available for other users to

download via the P2P network. In order to ensure that the maximum number of

‘|| files were “shareable” at any given time, LimeWire was designed to-automatically | -

open when a user started their computer. This meant that turning on one’s computer
automatically logged the user into the P2P network and made the selection of files
across that network as vast as possible. .~ " | R

- 36, Another method that the LimeWire Defendants employed to ensure the
maximum amount of available ﬁles——fhereby increasing LimeWire’s reputation as a

desirable copyright infringement tool—was to maximize the number of ‘available

: l_.7-_ :
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shared files by automatically saving them in a “shared” folder on the user’s hard
drive_.i If a user turned off this feature or opted to have their files saved-in a ho‘n—
shared‘fol'der, they were labeled a “freoloédef” by the LimeWire software and ran
the risk of being refused future downloads by other users who could choose to block
sharing with freeloaders. The LimeWire Defendants actively discouraged |
freeloaders on their website, stating, for example, “If you're not sharing enough -

files, users with certam connectlon preferences won’t let you connect to them for

downloadmg For this reason, we fecommend all Lime Wire users share generously. | .

with one-another.” Inother words, share files or you will not be-able to infringe as
easily.

37. The LimeWire Defendants also designed LimeWire’s interface to
maximize users’ ability to quickly locate and obtain copies of copyrighted materials.

Users could search by music genre, song name, artist name or album name. When

.searches y1elded multlplc sources for. the, .same copynghted matenals L1meW1re

dlsplayed the connection speed of each source (i.e., how fast that user’s internet
connection was) so that the searching user could choose the fastest download option.
Using these features in combination, LimeWire users were able to locate and
download COpyrlghted sound recordmgs in the shortest amount of time possible.

38, On May 25 2010 United States District Judge Klmba Wood found
LimeWire liable for massive copyrlght 1nfr1ngement Later that same year, Judge
Wood permanently enjoined LimeWire -from all further 1nfr1ngement activities, In
doing so, the Court found that, among other things:

K LimeWire “intentionally encouraged direct infringement” by its users; .

. the LimeWire software appllcatlon was used “overwhelmmgly for

mfrmgement and allowed for 1nfr1ngement on a “massive scale”; [

. L1_1neW11je and its principals k_new_,about_ “the 'subsltantlal infringement

being committed” by LimeWire users;
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*  LimeWire marketed itself to Napster users, who were known copyright

, 1nfr1ngers and promoted LimeWire’s infringing capabllltles to those users;.
«  LimeWire employed a business model that depended on mass
infringement, relying on “massive user population generated by” the
LimeWire software’s “infringement-enabling features”; and

. «. . LimeWire “actively assisted infringing users” in their .'inﬁ'ingernent
efforts and tested the L1meW1re client software by searchlng for copyrlghted
‘material. ' ' '
39. Of the many P2P: clients that remain in-existence, most include features

nearly identical’ or identical to those found in LimeWire." FrostWire, as just one

example, is an open source P2P client developed from the LimeWire developmental

source code by a group of “concerned. [members] of LimeWire’s open source |
.0y 123 ned. : . / S Op L

community” who first sought to “protect” the LimeWire code in 2005, after the

Supreme Court S Grolcster op1nlon The CBS Defendants. calI FrostWire a “fork.of | ... -

the leeWIre source code that is pract:oaHy 1nd13t1ngu1shable” from LimeWire.
Commenters on the CBS Defendants’ website, Download.com, further describe
FrostWire as “Like An Updated Version Of LimeWire,” a “Great program to
replaoe L1meW1re and ° Just as good as LimeWire, maybe better

The CBS Defendants Partlcmatlon In And Proﬁteermg From Infrmg_ment

40. Download.com, found at httn //download.cnet.com, is one of the CBS

Defendants stable of’ web31tes As the name implies, Download.com offers
programs -and applications for download. In addition to this service, the site also
provides reviews written by CNET editors, ailows program-specific comments from
users, and is organized in such a way as to maximize a user’s ab111ty to find and
obtain copies of the program or application they desire.

. 41.  Software publishers must be approved to have their software listed on
Download com. In order to do so, they first go through an application process on

Upload.com, found at https://upload.cnet.com. On this site, the CBS Defendants

o
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advertise’ that software publishers should “[pjromote your, software on the largest
distribution network in the world.” As they further state, “‘Up‘load.com is-the central
destination to submit and oromot_e y'our software on CNET DoWniosid.com and other
sites in our growing distribution network.”

42.  After a software publisher creates a developer account, which requires
Download.com staff approval, they may submit their program for review, In this
appllcatlon the pubhsher categorizes the program and fills out a detailed

explananon of its features and purpose. After. rev1ew1ng this apphcatzon, '

Download.com’s staff decides whether to permit the program on Download.com and- | -+ -

where to place it on the website.

43.  As developers release new versions of their software, they must also

update their application to Download.com. .Included in this update .are explanations | ..

of new features, new functionality, improvements in user interface and experience,

_and any other difference between the new and. prev1ous versron As. with, the 1n1t1a1 -

apphcatlon the Download.com staff reviews and decides whether to allow the

listing.

44. At each step in the initial application and subsequent update process,

DownIoad com possessed the abrhty to refuse’ to hst the pubhsher $ software I

thereby conferrmg upon Download.com the abrllty to supervise and control any
infringing activity taking place on its website. If Download.com staff did not

believe the software should be accepted, they could either outright refuse to list it or

| suggest changes to the program. itself. ‘At no point was Download.com obligated to

list programs submitted for approval to Upload.com. Furthe_r, Download.com was
within its full rights to remove listings at its discretion.

45. The CBS'Defendents generate revenue from Download.com in several

ways,  First, software publishers have the option to.pay for.a “Basic” and [

“Premium” account on Upload.com. Although there is also a “Free” account, the

former two types of account offer increased benefits for a monthly subscription fee. |

-10-
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Second, companies may advertise directly with Download.com and seek to place .

‘their ads on popﬁlar download Iistings. Third, the CBS Defendants advertise’ their

other websites on Download.com, driving traffic and revenue to those sites. Fourth,
the CBS Defendants offer a program called Pay-Per-Download (“PPD”), which they
push heavily on Upload.com and which offers several unique options.

46. PPD is described as a “performe.nce-based program that allows you to
increase downloads by up to 150 percent whlle malntamlng control of your costs.”

Part1c1pants in the program obtain a. “top -five sponsored’ hstmg” for. their product

ir¥ their respective Download.com category, out-of-category promotional rotation on-|:" *

Download.com pages, including on “post-download pages and other placements 'in
[Defendants’] network,” and 10 additional keywords to enable Download.com users
to find the publisher’s program. -Participants also.have the option to pay only. for

initiated downloads from unique users and the ability to choose “the bid amount and

. monthly spending. cap for your. campalgn

47. PPD is designed to offer adaptable advertlslng options for software |
publishers and generate strong cash, flow for the CBS Defendants. On information
and belief several P2P client publishers, including the LimeWire Defendants, used
and use the PPD program and generated substantlal revenues for the CBS
Defendants In add1t1on due to PZP clients’ p0puiar1ty, pubhshers of other types of
software advertised heavily on P2P download screens, thus generating additional
revenue streams- for the CBS Defendants due to P2P client listings on
Download.com. . -

48.  Download.com hosted copies of LimeWire for download on its servers.
It also has variously hosted other such notorious infringers as Napster, Morpheus,
KaZaA, BearShare, and iMesh. Today, evén after the United States District Court’s
recent infringement findings and permanent injunction . against LimeWire, |
Download.com still hosts download links for several P2P clients. Upon information

and belief, the CBS Defendants have generated and continue to continue to generate

-11-
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substantial fees from the P2P client publishers themselves and advertisers who wish
to have their programs listed on P2p client download screens. The CBS Defendants |-
also generate rev'en'ues-.by oross-promoting their websites on P2P olient download
screens.

49.  Because the CBS Defendants own the “largest [download] distribution
network in the world,” they Were_particularly valuable partners in the dissemination |
and popularity of various P2P client infringers. LimeWire, which was one of
Download com’s top downloaded programs, owed its success. to the drstrlbutron it

received through Download.com. Upon information and belief, approximately 95 |-

| pércent of LimeWire downloads occurred via Download.com. In fact, LimeWire’s

own website redirected users to Download.com when they attempted to download

the client. Other infamous P2P client publishers. included similar redirects from

their home websites for downloads of their programs.

0. The CBS Defendants also worked wrth L1meW1re and other P2P | ..

publishers to prov1de software that maximized 1nfr1ngement For each version of

LimeWire, for example, Download.com staff corresponded with the LimeWire

|| Defendants® representatives regarding the features in the client program. These

features demonstrated that L1meW1re was expho1t1y de51gned for copyright
mfrmgement For example L1meW1re (a) 1ncluded search capabilities that focused

on music title, artist, music genre, and other identifying factors of copyrighted sound

| recordings; (b) provided a “preview” function for the audio player so users could

confirm that audio files they wished to download were-the actual files they were
searching for; (c) punished users who did not share enough files; and (d) in later

versions, included a copyright filter but set the default upon installation to “off.”

|| Nevertheless, Download.com did not refuse to list LimeWire on its site and did pot

require, that the LimeWire Defendants include filters or other protections against

copyright infringement. Other P2P clients underwent a similarly-streamlined

‘approval process for their infringement software. -

_12-
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- 51.  Although the CBS Defendants’ distribution was critical to the
infringing P2P systems’ success, that was. not the'extenf'_of their.- involventent:
Defendants also actively' pi‘ometed the P2P clients on Download.com eind explained |
how users could infringe copyrights to the greatest degree possible.

52.  One way that the CBS Defendants promoted copyright infringing P2Ps
was to write “reviews” of the program and apply a rating on a five star.scale. These
reviews discussed the program’s functionality, featuresl, strengths, and weaknesses.

In many instances, they also discussed the purpose of the pfogrsm. The LimeWire

Defendants - similarly - posted self-serving explanations- of LimeWire on

Download.com in order to promote the product

53.  For example, the CBS Defendants posted a “CNET Editors’ Review”
on LimeWire on February 12, 2009. CNET editor Seth Rosenblatt noted from the
start that LimeWire was a “post-Napster clone” that had evolved into a “leading role
as the qumtessentlal Gnutella, [protocol] client.” He also noted. that “LimeWire .is
the hlghest ploﬁle P2P apphcatlon ” At the time the CBS Defendants posted this
review, they knew that LimeWire was embroiled in a lawsuit accusing it of massive
copyright infringement, and that several other P2P clients had already been shut
down for their own 1nfr1ngement Nevertheless the CBS Defendants did not 1ssue a
warning that users should refrain from usmg L1meW1re to mfrmge copyrlghts
Instead they pointed out that 1t was a useful Napster replacement and gave it four-
and-a-half stars out of ﬁve .

:54.- As part of their review process, the CBS Defendants tested the software
that they reviewed and, in the case of P2P clients, infringed copyrights to do so. Ina
video that Download.com posted to its website, the CBS Defendants again reviewed,

LimeWire, but this time demonstrated how it‘werked to Download.com users. As

the viewer looks at the screen demonstrating a sample search, they see a list of

copyrighted works, including those from several well-known musical artists. In this

same video, Defendants admit that they downloaded files' generated by these

13-
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searches to test the speeds LimeWire could deliver for users. The message of the
vrdeo is clear LimeWire is really great at infringing copyrights.

55.  Download.com staff also acknowledged in publrc interviews that they
knew P2P clients hosted on their site were intended for copyright infringement. In
an interview discussing LimeWire, for example, M. Rosenblatt, the editor who
wrote the previously-mentioned LimeWire review, noted that file sharing is
prrmarlly used for copyrrght 1nfr1ngement

.. 56. - To thls day, Download.com still hosts and promotes P2P clients that .

have been specifically designed for copyright infringement. - For example, as noted

previously, the CBS Defendants continue to provide a download for FrostWire, the

open source version of LimeWire that is “practically indistinguishable” from its

infringing cousin.. As Download.com’s users point out on the website, “Frostwire is. |

basically Limewire replaced! ... I'm glad that this is a lot like Limewire because

,then I don't. have .to Ieam anythmg new.” . Although the .CBS. Defendants now | ...

mclude a belated, stock warning against copyrlght 1nfr1ngernent on their web31te
this -does not stop them from continuing their support of known infringers.

57. Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works were and are available on P2P file
sharmg networks developed dlstrrbuted and promoted by Defendants Defendants

accordlngly are liable for copyright 1nfr1ngement
COUNT 1

INDUCEMENT OF COPYRIGHT iNFRINGEMENT
58.. Plaintiffs incorporate as if set forth herein the -allegations made in

Paragraphs 1 through 57.

59.  Individuals using P2P client software that Defendants created,

|| distributed and promoted, including LimeWire and others, have directly 'infringed‘

and are directly infringing . Plaintiffs’ .copyrights by, for example, creating .

unauthorized reproductions of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works and distributing copies

_14-
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of such works to the public in violation of Plaintiffs’ exclusive rights under the
Copyrlght Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 106, 501.

60. Defendants are liable for inducing the copyr1ght mfrmgement of |
Download.com users. The CBS Defendants distribute and promote several P2P

clients, including but not limited to the LimeWire client and current offerings such

as FrostWire and iMesh. In distributing and promoting these. P2P clients, the CBS | -

Defendants inform and Informed their users that the clients were optlmlzed for the

‘unauthorlzed copying and, transm1381on of eopymghted sound recordmgs thereby

actively -facilitating, encouraging and -enticing Download.com users to engage in the-
infringement. '

61. Defendants have induced and continue to induce infringement by, for
example, aiming to satisfy. a known source of demand for. copyright infringement, .

including the market comprising users of other infringing services that were shut

|down or compelled to block access to Pla1nt1ffs copyrlghted works such as Napster :

Morpheus, Grokster KaZaA, and now L1meW1re

62. Defendants further have induced and continue to induce infringement

by, for example, continuing to provide downloads for P2P that clients that fail to

block or chrmnlsh access to 1nfr1ng1ng material even though there are technolog1cal
means to do so — means that are known to Defendants and the P2P cl1ent pubhshers |
and some of which have been employed by P2P cllents who operate legally. |
63. Defendants further have induced and continue to induce mfrmgerﬁent
by, for example, building and maintaining a.business model to profit directly from | -
the demand for infringing P2P clients. | _
64. Defendants’ 1nfr1ngement is and has been willful, 1ntentional,

purposeful, and in disregard of the rights of Plaintiffs, and hds caused substantial

1 damage to Pla1nt1ffs

65. As a d1rect and proximate result of Defendants 1nfrmgement Plaintiffs

||are entitled ‘to damages and ‘their- costs, including reasonsble attorneys’ fees, |
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pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505. Defendants’ conduct has caused, and unless enjoined

by the Court; w1ll continue to cause Plaintiffs gréat and irreparable injury that

cannot be fully compensated or measured in money Plaintiffs have no adequate

remedy at law. Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 502, Plaintiffs therefore also are entitled to

1njunct1ve relief to pI’Othlt further mfrmgement of Plaintiffs’ copyrlghts
.. COUNT2 - B

CONTRIBUTORY COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT

66.. Plaintiffs 1noorporate as if set forth. herein the_.allegatlons. made in

‘Paragraphs 1 through 65.-"- - - - -

67. Individuals using P2P client software that Defendants created, |

distributed and promoted, including LimeWire and others, have directly infringed

and . are directly infringing Plaintiffs’ copyrights by, -for example,. creating

unauthorized reproductions of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted works and distributing copies

of such. works to the. pubhc in v1olatlon of Plamtlffs exoluswe rlghts under the e

Copyright Act, 17 U. S.C. §§ 106, 501.

68. Defendants are liable as contributory infringers for the copyright
infringement committed via P2P client software that Defendants distributed,
inoluding LimeWire and others. Defendants have knowledge of the massive
1nfrmgement that has occurred and continues to occur through P2P chent software
that they created, distributed and promoted, and Defendants_have caused, enabled,
facilitated, and materially contributed to that infringement.

69. Defendants’ knowledge of infringement is both actual and constructive. |
Examples of this knowledge include written and oral statements by Defendants and

user comments posted on Download.com; express comparisons of P2P clients to

il other notorious and 111egally-operated PIP’ systems and featurés of P2P ollents |

Defendants discussed wzth_the software publishers.that demonstrated the client was
optimized for finding and distributing popular sound recordings. All of these facts

directly and circumstantially exhibit Defendants’ awareness that the overarching
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purpose and use of P2P clients they distributed and continue to distribute is to
infringe Plaintiffs’ copyrlghted works.- '

'70.  Defendants have caused, enabled facilitated and materlally contributed
to the infringement complained of herein. Defendants have, in addition to the

actions detailed above, provided the tools and instruction for infringement via P2P

clients they. distribute; directly and indirectly promoted the infringement via. P2P

clients they dzstrlbute drrectly profited from the1r drstrlbutlon of P2P clients; and
refused to exercise their abllrty to stop the mﬁ'lngement made possible by thelr |
distribution.-

" 71.  Defendants” infringement is and has. béen willful, intentional,
purposeful, and in disregard of the rights of Plaintiffs, and has caused substantial
damage to Plaintiffs. = o

72.  As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ infringement, Plaintiffs
are entrtled to damages and their costs, 1ncludmg reasonable attorneys fees, .
pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505. Defendants conduct has caused and unless enjomed
by the Court, will continue to cause Plaintiffs great and irreparable injury that
cannot be fully compensated or measured in money. Plaintiffs have no adequate
remedy at law. Pursuant to 17 U.S. C § 502, Plamtrffs therefore also are entitled to
mJunctrve rehef to proh1b1t further mfrmgement of Plamtlffs copyrrghts

COUNT 3
VICARIOUS COPYRIGHT INFRINGEMENT

73.. . Plaintiffs incorporate as if set forth herein the allegations made in
Paragraphs 1 through 72. _ |

74.  Individuals using P2P client software that Defendants distributed,
including LimeWire and others, have drrectly mfrmged and are d1rectly 1nfr1ng1ng |
Plaintiffs’ copyrights by, for example, creating unauthorized reproductions of I
Plaintiffs-’ works and distributing copies of such works to the public in violation of

Plaintiffs’ exclusive rights under the Copyright Act, 17 U.S.C. §§ 106, 501. -
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75. . Defendants are liable ats vicarious infri_ngers_ for the copyright
infrihgement committed via P2P client softw'are that-Defe'ndante created, distributed
and prorhoted, including LimeWire and others. At all times relevant to this etction, |
Defendants (i) have had the right and ability to control and/or supervise the
infringing conduct of P2P client users, including without limitation through their
ability to_'.CLit off distribution of P2P clients and listing on Download.com any and all
versions of the software; and (ii) have had a direct financial interest in, and derived

substantial. ﬁnénc,ial benefit from, the ,ihﬁ‘ingement' of Plaintiffs’ copyrighted. works

via-P2P clients that Defendants distributed.

76. Defendants have derived direct and’ substantial benefit from

infringement in several ways, including without limitation (i) fees paid to

_Defeodant_s by P2P client publishers through the PPD. program and general

Upload.com account registrations, (ii) advertisements P2P clients bought to run on

Download com for . their software (111) advertisements other software pubhshers .

.bought fo run on P2P client download pages due to the pOpu!arlty of the P2P chents

(iv) cross-promotion on P2P client download pages for other sites in the CBS

Defendants’ stable of websites.

77. Defendants mfrlngement is and has been willful, 1ntent10nal

purposeful and in dlsregard of the nghts of Plalntlffs and has caused substantlal f

damage to Plamtlffs.

78. - As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ infringement, Plaintiffs

jare entitled. to damages and their costs, including reasonable attorneys’ - fees,

pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 505. Defendants’ conduct has caused, and unless enjoined |

by the Court, will continue to cause Plaintiffs great and irreparable injury that

| cannot be fully compensated of measured in money. Plaintiffs have no adequate

remedy at law. Pursuant to 17 U.S.C. § 502, Plaintiffs therefore also are entitled to
injunctive relief to prohibit further infringement of Plaintiffs’ copyrights.
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_ ) PRAYER FOR RELIEF
WHEREFORE Plaintiffs respectfully pray for the followmg rehef
a.” For damag‘es, mcludmg without limitation, actual and statutory
damages, for Defendants’ infringements of Plaintiffs’ copyrights;

b.  For injunctive relief requiring that Defendants and Defendants’ agents,

servants, employees, officers, attorneys, successors, licensees, .pdi'tners and assigns,

and all persons actlng in conceft or part1c1pat10n with each or any of them cease
infringing, whether dlrectly or 1nd1rectly, and cease causing, enabling, facﬂltatmg, ‘
encouraging, promoting, inducing, centributing-to, and participating in the - -
infringement of, any of Plaintiffs’ respective copyrights;
C. For pre-judgment and post-judgment interest;
,.d. F or Plaintiffs’ costs and disbursements in.this action, including
reasonable attorneys’ fees; and

. e. . . Forsuch other and further relief as the Court deems proper and just. .

May 3, 2011 Respectfully submitted,

- Michael T. Zellgr
Adam B. Wolfson
- QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
SULLIVAN, LLP
865 S. Figueroa.
Los Angeles, California 90017
(213) 443-3000 '
(213) 443-3100 (facsimile)

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL .

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38(Db), Plaintiffs demand a‘trie.tl by

jury.

May 3, 2011

Respectfully submitted,

' Adam B. Wolffon
-QUINN EMANUEL URQUHART &
- SULLIVAN, LLLP
865 S. Figueroa
Los Angeles, California 90017
(213) 443-3000 .
(213) 443 3100 (facsmnle)

. Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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